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DAVID UPSCOMB
NAMED FUND

David Lipscomb (1831-1917), early
Churches of Christ leader, was born in
Franklin County, Tennessee. Educated at
Franklin College, Nashville, he was bap-
tized by Tolbert Fanning while in college.
His preaching began before the start of the
Civil War.

Following the conclusion of the Civil
War, Lipscomb and Tolbert Fanning reis-
sued the Gospel Advocate. For the next 47
years Lipscomb edited the paper. As the
years of the 19th century progressed, he
and others oflike persuasion began using
the name Churches of Christ to designate
this group.

Always interested in education, he
was responsible for organizing the Fan-
ning Orphans School in 1884. With James
A. Harding, Lipscomb founded the Nash-
ville Bible School, now David Lipscomb
University, in 1891. He was never presi-
dent of either school, but he served as
chairman of the board of trustees of each.

MAE YOHO WARD
NAMED FUND

Mae Ward, a native ofCameron, West
Virginia, was a graduate of Bethany Col-
lege, Bethany, West Virginia and Yale Di-
vinity School. For 35 years she served the
church she loved in many different capaci-
ties. She served as Director of Religious
Education for the Christian Churches of
West Virginia (1924-1926), missionary to
Buenos Aires, Argentina (1928-1934) and
Executive Secretary for the Latin Ameri-
can Department of the United Christian
Missionary Society, Division of Foreign
Missions (1941-1965).

Ward served as Vice President of the
United Christian Missionary Society (1961-
1967), and briefly served as President of
the Society, being the only woman to serve
in that capacity during the Society's exist-
ence as a program unit of the Christian
Church. Her last "unofficial" position with
the Christian Church (Disciples of Christ)
was gardener for Missions Building in In-
dianapolis, Indiana.

P. H. WELSHIMER
NAMED FUND

P. H. Welshimer, born in York, Ohio,
began his professional career as a school
teacher where he taught all eight grades in
a country school of51 pupils. His education
came at Ohio Northern University, Ada,
Ohio, and at Hiram College, Hiram, Ohio.

WeIshimer held only three pastor-
ates. During college days he preached for
the Champion Christian Church near
Hiram. Before graduation he accepted a
call to Millersburg, Ohio. His 55 year
ministry at First Christian Church, Can-
ton, Ohio, began in 1902 and concluded
with his death in 1957.

This Christian statesman was always
open-minded. His circle of warm friends
included persons of every faith and race.
His companionship with other Christian
ministers reached out to the most diver-
gent viewpoints. His own faith was firmly
set and strong against shallow thinking.
Yet his respect for differing minds marked
him as a great Christian statesman who
could love all people while contending ear-
nestly for his faith.

HERBERT J. AND
MARTHA NELL SIMPSON

NAMED FUND

The lives of Herbert and Martha Nell
Simpson have been intertwined with the
church across the years. Undergraduate
work for Herbert was done at Chapman
College, Orange, California. For Martha
Nell it was at Culver-Stockton College,
Canton, Missouri, where she first learned
of the Historical Society and Claude Spen-
cer because the Society was then located at
Culver-Stockton. Both received graduate
degrees from Lexington Theological Semi-
nary, Lexington, Kentucky. They served
pastorates in Canada and Kentucky, serv-
ingthe First Christian Church ofPaducah ,
Kentucky, from 1961 until retirement in
1984. Shortly after retirement the
Simpsons moved to Albuquerque, New
Mexico, where they have been active in
their congregation, in the region, in an
interim ministry in Hobbs, New Mexico,
and in Church Women United.
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In Memoriam

Jennie SteindorfRenner, Trustee Emeritus of the Disciples of Christ Historical
Society, died recently. A memorial service for her was held at Euclid Avenue
Christian Church, Cleveland, Ohio on Sunday, March 22,1992. Dr. Renner was a
long time member of the Society and an ardent supporter. Condolence is expressed
to her family.

Maud Mullin Spencer, wife of the first Curator of the Historical Society, Claude
Spencer, died March 19, 1992 in Nashville. Claude and their son John had preceded
her in death. Maud had been a constant companion to Claude in the ministry of the
Society and continued her interest after his death. Condolence is expressed to her
family. A tree will be planted in her memory in the yard of the Society by her family.

NEW BOARD MEMBERS

Alan A. Mace, a native of St. Francis, Kansas, is a graduate
of Phillips University, Enid, Oklahoma, and Brite Divinity
School, Texas Christian University ,Fort Worth, Texas. He did
further graduate work at the University of Chicago and later
received his Doctor ofEducation degree from Peabody College,
Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee. Mace is cur-
rently serving as Senior Minister of the First Christian
Church, Tullahoma, Tennessee, but will soon join the staff of
the Christian Church (Disciples of Christ) in the Southwest.

Karen Leigh Stroup received her Master of Divinity d<9gree
from Lexington Theological Seminary, Lexington, Kentucky.
Her undergraduate work was done at the University of North
Carolina, Chapel Hill, where she received a Bachelor of Arts
in Religious Studies. There she was elected to Phi Beta Kappa.
She is a member of the American Society of Church History.
This fall she will begin work on her Ph.D. degree in Church
History at Vanderbilt University, Nashville, Tennessee.
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CAMPBELL-STONE HISTORY
IN EASTERN EUROPE

THE DISCIPLES OF CHRIST
AND

TIES WITH RUSSIA

by Albert W. Wardin, Jr. *

In February, 1909, an article by Wil-
liam Durban from London appeared in The
Christian-Evangelist with the provocative
title, ''Why Not Evangelize Russia?" The
author had become acquainted with Wil-
liam Fetler, a Baptist student who had
begun a very successful work among Rus-
sians and Latvians in St. Petersburg, and
felt that the Disciples should initiate a
similar mission. He pointed out that Dis-
ciples had discovered a group of Russian
Christians in New York City with whom
they were in fellowshi p and suggested that
some of them might return to Russia as
missionaries.l In the same periodical in
June, C. T. Paul, a professor at Hiram
College, echoed the same plea and declared
that his college would be willing to assist
students preparing for the Russian mis-
sion field.2

Unknown at the time, ties with Rus-
sia would eventually come through the
Russian Christian mission in New York,
which Durban mentioned in his article.3
The mission was started by Ivan Ivanov
(Ivanoff) (1881-1947) in 1904, the year he
was converted and baptized in the Mari-
ners' Temple Baptist Church in New York.4

Continued on Page 35

HISTORY OF THE
CHURCHES OF CHRIST

IN POLAND

by Henry E. Webb*

The story of the Churches of Christ in
Poland begins with a youthful immigrant,
Konstantin Jaroszewicz (1891-1984), who
was won to Christ in New York City by
Joseph Keevil. Later hemetZ. T. Sweeney,
who persuaded him to go to Johnson Bible
College in 1912. Following four years of
study at Johnson, he preached in New
York, Baltimore, and in Chicago. In 1921
he returned to Poland with his wife and a
son to establish a work in his native land.
As a nation, Poland was only three years
old, having been created by the terms ofthe
Versailles Treaty ending World War I.

Jaroshevich (Eng. spelling) hailed
from East Poland not far from the border of
Russia and his work was done mostly in
villages of that area. He travelled by foot
from village to village establishing churches
in the small, rural communities of that
area. He recruited a number or able co-
workers, among whom were Jerzy Sacewicz,
Jan Bukowicz, Basyli Bajko, and Boleslaw
Winnik. At the beginning of World War II
in 1939, there were 85 churches and a
number of mission points, mostly in East-
ern Poland. An annual convention drew
hundreds for a week-long fellowship. But

Continued on Page 42
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"MOVERS" AND "SENDERS"
The term used in the business world

is "movers and shakers," but with the His-
torical Society things are different. The
''movers" are going to be the office of the
World Convention of Churches of Christ.
Following the completion of Allan Lee's
ministry as General Secretary of the Con-
vention, Dr. Forrest Haggard will oversee
the closingofthe officein Richardson, Texas,
and the movement of it to Nashville. The
new office of the Convention will be in the
Thomas W. Phillips Memorial Building of
the Historical Society.

The new General Secretary and Asso-
ciate General Secretary, Lyndsay and
Lorraine Jacobs, who were elected at the
13th World Convention in August at Long
Beach, California, will come to Nashville
around February 1, 1993. Mr. Jacobs is
presently serving as principal of a high
school in New Zealand and they will move
to Nashville at the end of the school term.
The Board of Trustees and staff of the
Historical Society look forward with warm
anticipation to the coming of the Jacobs to
Nashville. This should be a move which will
strengthen both organizations since both
seek to serve the total Stone-Campbell
Movement.

The "senders" is a new fax machine
which will soon be installed at the Histori-
cal Society. More and more occasions are
arising for the need of capabilities to send
and receive letters and historical informa-
tion in a short period of time. The Society
hopes to have the new equipment installed
and in use by October 1, 1992.

This is one more step in keeping the
Society abreast of current technology as it
seeks to preserve history under the best
possible conditions. The fax number for the
Society will be announced in the next issue
ofDiscipliana as well as in other ways prior
to December. Letters or material may be
sent by fax from anywhere in the country at
any time of the day or night.

As we move confidently into the fu-
ture we do so with the knowledge that every
step is being taken to serve, in the greatest
way possible, the church and the members
of the church. Weare grateful to all of you
for your interest and concern in the Histori-
cal Society.

James M. Seale, President



Wardin, Continued from Cover

He had migrated to the U.s.A. from Russia
in 1903 and anglicized his name to John
Johnson. He had lived for 11 years in exile
in Russia with his family because of the
evangelical faith of his father whom the
authorities sent to Transcaucasia in 1892.
The father had become a believer in the
1880s in St. Petersburg through Pashkovite
evangelicals and carried his new faith to
his native village in Tver Province. 5 In 1907
Johnson's group organized as a church with
11 charter members. In the following year,
a Disciples' minister, J. L. Darsie, brought
the Russian congregation to the attention
of the Disciples' Missionary Union of New
York City, whose Mission Committee
passed a resolution favoring fraternal rela-
tions. At the Disciples Convention in New
Orleans in 1908, the Committee gained
approval for its recommendation that the
American Christian Missionary Society ,
(ACMS) work with the Missionary Union
in the project. The Russian group became
the Russian Christian Church, formally
joining the Disciples in January, 1910.
Johnson was ordained by the Disciples in
the same year and in the following year
with Disciples' support became a full-time
missionary.

Russian Ties Before
The First World War

The initiative for a tie between the
Russian Christian mission and Russia did
not come from America but from Russia. In
1908 Aleksandr Persianov (PersianofO, an
evangelist of the Evangelical Christians,
met John Johnson's father, now living in
Siberia, who told him of his son's work in
New York. In the following year, Persianov
began a correspondence with Johnson. R.
A. Sandler, a Christian Jew from Russia
who was holding services about this time in
Brooklyn, also brought information on the
Evangelical Christian movement. After
Johnson shared with fellow Disciples the
news that an Evangelical Christian con-
gress was meeting in St. Petersburg at the
end of December, 1911,1. N. McCash, sec-
retary of the ACMS, who was then in New
York, and Joseph Keevil of the Disciples'
Mission Union composed greetings to the
congress which were sent by cable. Any
doubts the congress may have had as to the
source of the cable were removed when
Timothy Dadianov, who had served as an
elder in the Russian Christian Church in
New York but was now in Russia establish-

ing his own work, told the congress of the
Disciples in America.6

Keevil quickly followed the cable with
a letter, dated January 12, 1912, to Ivan S.
Prokhanov (Prokhanofl) (1869-1935), the
dynamic president ofthe Evangelical Chris-
tian Union.? Keevil asked Prokhanov a
number ofquestions as to the origin, name,
size, beliefs, and polity of his movement.
Prokhanov speedily replied to each ques-
tion and in a postscript informed Keevil
that two or three Evangelical Christians
were willing to come to America to know
more about the Disciples.s

The Evangelical Christian Union,
which Prokhanov had formed, was an out-
growth of the Pashkovite movement which
began in 1874 among the aristocrats of St.
Petersburg from the preaching of Lord
Radstock. Prokhanov became a Baptist in
the Caucasus but later took over the lead-
ership of the major part of the old
Pashkovite congregation in St. Petersburg.
With his talents as a preacher, publisher,
and organizer, Prokhanov, in spite of his
Baptist background, was not content, how-
ever, to be simply a coworker in the Baptist
Union. He gained support among evangeli-
cal sectarians who objected to any denomi-
national name, to the strict Baptist views
on faith and polity, and to the existing
Baptist leadership. With the first Evan-
gelical Christian conferences in
Ekaterinoslavin 1907 and Odessa in 1908,
the new movement was on its way. Al-
though there was discussion of union with
the Baptists, an intense rivalry developed
between the two groups. Prokhanov, how-
ever, did not sever all Baptist ties. In Bap-
tistcircles abroad, he portrayed his organi-
zation as the "Open Baptist Union," i. e.
more open on the Lord's Supper, a position
held by many British Baptists. In Philadel-
phia in 1911, he attended the Baptist World
Alliance which elected him a vice-presi-
dent of the body.

As part of his program, Prokhanov
wished to open a Bible school for the train-
ing of pastors and evangelists, but the
government refused his persistent requests.
In the meantime, however, he held short-
term "evangelical courses" for pastors. Fi-
nally in July, 1912, the authorities gave
their permission for a school.His ownUnion,
however, was unable to finance the project
since it was facing a serious deficit in the
support of its home missionaries, and for-
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eign Baptists gave no promise of aid. To
make matters worse, the government re-
fused theconveningof an All-Russian Evan-
gelical Christian Congress for January,
1913, an assembly which might have alle-
viated some of the financial problems.
Prokhanov also feared that, if the founding
ofthe school were delayed, the government
might withdraw its permission. When two
representatives of the Evangelical Chris-
tians, Aleksandr Persianov and Professor
Martin Schmidt, arrived in Louisville in
the fall of 1912 to attend the annual meet-
ing of the ACMS, it is not surprising that
they came not only to learn more about
American Disciples but above all to gain
financial support for the Bible school, ifnot
other assistance. Mter almost three months
of travel ,which included visiting churches
and colleges, they failed to gain any firm
financial commitment.9

Alarmed by the prospect oflosing the
opportunity of opening a school in Russia,
Disciples of Christ in Greater New York
formed on the eve ofSchmidt's departure a
Special Russian Emergency Committee of
five members. It included as chairman, Z.
T. Sweeney, a respected denominational
leader and pastor who had also served as
American consul-general in Turkey during
the administration of BeQjamin Harrison,
and Keevil as secretary. In a letter given to
Schmidt, the Committee promised to ap-
peal to the Foreign Christian Missionary
Society and the Christian Woman's Board
ofMissions for assistance, but if this effort
failed it would appeal directly to the Dis-
ciples at large. Although sympathetic, the
two foreign mission agencies felt unable to
provide support, and the Committee then
made its general appeal. Both the Chris-
tian Standard and The Christian-Evange-
list supported the project, particularly the
former periodical, which immediately
pledged to secure $1,000 to get the effort
started. As a representative of the Emer-
gency Committee, Sweeney left for Russia
to investigate the Evangelical Christians
and their program. Louis R. Patmont joined
Sweeney as an interpreter and special cor-
respondent for the Christian Standard.
Some years before, Patmont had been bap-
tized as a believer in Lodz, Poland (then in
the Russian Empire). He was the son of a
Russian colporteur and evangelist. Sweeney
made a detailed report, published in both
The Christian-Evangelist and Christian
36

Standard, and Patmont provided a series
of articles for his paper. The reports were
very positive, claiming the Evangelical
Christians were one in doctrine with the
Disciples and worthy of support. A. E.
Cory, a secretary in the Men and Millions
Movement, with several others visited
Russia in 1914 on the authorization of the
Movement's Executive Committee and ap-
proval of the Commission on Foreign Rela-
tions of the ACMS. In his confidential re-
port, Cory supported Sweeney's position.10

The Disciples who visited Russia not
only scrutinized Prokhanov's work but also
carefully interrogated him on faith and
polity. The Disciples found agreement with
the Evangelical Christians in their desig-
nation of themselves simply as "Gospel
Christians," their independent congrega-
tions, their stress on Christian unity, their
believer's baptism, and their open com-
munion, although the latter were careful to
accept at communion only individuals who
gave indication of regeneration. The big-
gest stumbling block between Disciples
and Prokhanov appeared, however, to be
over the design of baptism. Prokhanov re-
jected any suggestion that baptism was for
"remission of sins," although he was will-
ing to admit it was an act of obedience
commanded by Christ as a demonstration
of one's faith. In a response to a letter from
Sweeney in 1914, Prokhanov not only high-
lighted his differences with the Baptists
but also made a concerted effort to tailor
his views to meet the expectations of the
Disciples. With financial assistance,
Prokhanov agreed to translate and publish
in Russian Phillips' book, The Church of
Christ, a work popular among many Dis-
ciples.ltappeared in 1915 as a supplement
to Utrennyaya zvezda. For its part the
Christian Standard printed excerpts from
Prokhanov's book on preaching, which had
been published in 1911, and the paper also
printed one of Prokhanov's sermons, "The
Peace That Is War."ll

Before Sweeney and Patmont even
arrived, the Evangelical Christians, in
anticipation of support, opened their Bible
School in February. Because of lack of
funds, the first class contained only 9 stu-
dents, taught by Prokhanov, who served as
president, and two associates. On Monday
nights about fifty preachers of the St. Pe-
tersburg Church would attend a special
preachers' meeting for instruction. In the



meantime the Emergency Committee col-
lected funds to reach its initial goal of
$5,000 for the school. By December, 1913,
the fund had reached about $5,500 ofwhich
over $4,300 had been distributed. Mr. and
Mrs. Sweeney themselves contributed at
least $1,300 of the amount. There was
some complaint that the Emergency Com-
mittee had bypassed existing mission agen-
cies, but the Convention of the Disciples in
Toronto in 1913 enthusiastically received
its report. The Convention also initiated a
Men and Millions Movement, which in
cooperation with the various mission agen-
cies sought to enlist mission volunteers
and raise $6,500,000 for missions and
higher education of which $100,000 was
designated for Russia. The Convention also
approved the formation of a Commission
on Foreign Relations of the ACMS, which
occurred the following year, thereby trans-
forming the Emergency Committee into a
permanent agency.12

The Bible school completed one year
of work and after the summer holidays
planned to open on September 1, 1914.
Unfortunately, the First World War, be-
ginning in July, intervened. With four of
the students entering the army and funds
from abroad cut off, the problems were too
great for the school to reopen, and it re-
mained closed during the entire period of
the war. These circumstances also termi-
nated for some time the ties of the Disciples
with Russia, but after the war there would
be new opportunitiesY

Russian Ties Mter
The First World War

In spite ofthe war, the fall of the Czar
and the seizure of power by the Commu-
nists in 1917, and the civil war with its
hardships, Prokhanov remained in
Petrograd (the name of St. Petersburg af-
ter 1914). It was not until June, 1920, that
he was able to communicate abroad with
the Disciples and Baptists. He sent practi-
cally identical letters to both groups, send-
ing to Sweeney the one for"the Disciples.14
In the letters Prokhanov s-tated that Evan-
gelical Christians were experiencing reli-
gious freedom, the Gospel was spreading,
and they were working towards union with
the Baptists in Russia. He also wrote that
he had heard there were those in America
who had a large supply of Russian Bibles
and Gospels as well as food for starving
believers. The Christian Standard publi-

cized the letter and called immediately for
the sending of relief to Prokhanov, willing
to be a conduit for the effort.

Economic conditions continued to
worsen in Russia. With poor harvests in
1921 and 1922, Russia began to face very
serious famine. In 1921 the Evangelical
Christian Union made an appeal to Chris-
tians in general in America and Europe. In
early 1922, the ACMS through its Home
Department sent Prokhanov $1,000 from
money raised by the Men and Millions
Movement. A short time later in May,
twenty leading Disciples initiated in Chi-
cago a "Famine Relief Committee of the
Disciples of Christ for Evangelical Chris-
tians in Russia" with John Johnson as
secretary-treasurer. By the first part of
1924, the committee had raised $5,100
with significant support coming from the
Russian believers themselves in America.
The ACMS covered all overhead expenses.
In 1922 The United Christian Missionary
Society sent Carl Borders, a missionary to
Russians in Chicago, to assist in the distri-
bution of aidY

American and European Baptists also
responded to Prokhanov's call and sent
relief both to him and the Russian Baptist
Union. In addition, they provided Bibles
and New Testaments. Baptists coordinated
their mission efforts in Europe through J.
H. Rushbrooke, the Baptist Commissioner
for Europe, who not only coordinated relief
efforts but investigated other requests for
assistance. Together with the mission agen-
cies he represented, Rushbrooke strongly
supported efforts for union between Evan-
gelical Christians and the Russian Bap-
tists, regarding both groups as essentially
one in doctrine and practice. In July, 1923,
in Stockholm, the Congress ofthe Baptist
World Alliance again elected Prokhanov a
vice-president of the Alliance. In a memo-
randum in November, Rushbrooke stated
that grants for Russia would be given if,
among other stipulations, there would be
the establishment by Evangelical Chris-
tians and Baptists of "a really strong and
representative Committee ... [to] admin-
ister and be responsible for all monies
received from abroad." With distrust and
rivalry on both sides, the two groups never
came to an agreement in spite of numerous
negotiations, and all such efforts were fin-
ished by 1925. One serious stumbling block
was Prokhanov's failure to give Baptists
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joint control of his Bible School which he
had reopened in Leningrad in October,
1922. Although foreign Baptists had given
some support to the school, they would not
grant further assistance to Prokhanov with
no agreement between him and the Rus-
sian Baptists.16

Even if relations could have been
worked out with the foreign Baptists,
Prokhanov felt their giving only several
thousand dollars in anyone year was far
too niggardly in light of the great evange-
listic opportunities then open in Russia.
Even before his final break with the Bap-
tists, he was willing to receive assistance
from any Christian source, including the
Disciples, and sought funds forrelief, Bibles,
for his school. In April, 1923, the Christian
Standard provided a full page with a per-
sonal appeal from Prokhanov who declared
that in Russia his "movement means the
restoration of the primitive Christianity
with its simplicity." The fund for Russia
and Central Europe in the Men and Mil-
lions Movement had reached over $52,000
by September, 1921, and the Christian
Standard in an editorial in October, 1923,
urged its expenditure on behalf ofthe Rus-
sian brethren. Disciples provided
Prokhanov with some assistance for his
school in 1923, 1924, and early 1925, but in
March, 1925, the ACMS, which adminis-
tered the fund for Russia and Central Eu-
rope, which had now grown to over $65,000,
decided to make a first-hand investigation
before it would expend further fundsY

Before a delegation of Disciples left
for Russia, Prokhanov himself arrived in
America at the end of May. Shortly before
his arrival, Prokhanov had met in early
April in Germany Norman J. Smith, gen-
eral secretary ofthe Russia Evangelization
Society, who encouraged Prokhanov to re-
turn with him to America to raise $50,000.
Smith believed ifBi shop Blake ofthe Meth-
odist Church could ask for such a sum for
training priests of the Living Church (a
split from the Orthodox Church) Prokhanov
should be able to raise a similar amount. It
was not long, however, before Prokhanov
began to think of a much larger
sum-raising as much as $100,000. Smith
also promoted Prokhanov in his paper, The
European Harvest Field, and wrote an ar-
ticle for, The Missionary Review of the
World, which in expanded form also ap-
peared as a booklet. The Russia Society
38

also published an 8-page pamphlet by
Prokhanov, Awakening Russia Now Seek-
ing God, an open letter to the Christians of
America. Besides receiving the endorse-
ment of a variety of Christian agencies,
Prokhanov made a concerted appeal to the
Disciples. Before their sailing to Europe,
Prokhanov met with F. W. Burnham andA.
E. Cory, designated by the ACMS to in-
spect the work of the Evangelical Chris-
tians in Russia. In addition, he attended a
quarterly meeting of the Society and in
October spoke at the Convention of the
Disciples in Oklahoma City. The Christian
Standard did its share of promotion by
printing one of Prokhanov's sermons and
various articles, and other periodicals of
the Disciples also lent their support.
Prokhanov's fund-raising effort of 18
months proved most successful--a total of
$137,000 was raised.18

In the meantime, Burnham and Cory
visited Russia. After their return, F. W.
Burnham made a full report. Unlike pre-
war Disciples who had visited Evangelical
Christians, Burnham was much more real-
istic as to their doctrine and practice. He
declared they were neither Disciples nor
Baptists but admitted that they held the
Baptist position on the design of baptism.
He found that they practiced a "semi-closed
communion" and did not uniformly observe
the ordinance each Sunday. He also discov-
ered, unlike organizations of the Disciples,
that the Council of the Evangelical Chris-
tians was an ecclesiastical body which spoke
for the churches and the churches followed
a uniform statement of faith. In spite of
these ecclesiastical differences, Burnham
recommended assistance in light of the
pressing need for improved facilities for
the Bible school which in turn would help
to meet the great evangelistic opportuni-
ties of the day. He also declared that all aid
should be given with no strings attached,
recognizing the Evangelical Christians as
an independent Russian body, separate
from the Disciples. In December, the ACMS
followed the recommendation and agreed
to pay $500 a month for the school year of
eight months and an additional $400 for
the support of evangelists or a total of
$4,400. The Society continued further ap-
propriations for the school, but in 1929 the
authorities forced it to close. The Stalinist
era had now arrived with its implementa-
tion of a full communist program, includ-



mg suppression of religion. For a second
time, outside events cut the ties of the
Disciples with Russia.19

Before all ties were finally severed,
the ACMS began to provide funds in 1927
for four nephews of Prokhanov, sons of
Vasily (Basil) Prokhanov-Sviatoslav
(Slava), Vladimir, Paul, and Eugene--to
study at Phillips University in Enid, Okla-
homa, to enable them to return to the
Soviet Union as Christian leaders. In 1928
the University published a book by Slava,
Experiences with Communism in Rossia
(sic). Circumstances, however, never al-
lowed the young men to return to their
native land.20

Mtermath
During his trip to America,

Prokhanov established in 1926 a provi-
sional American headquarters, which in
1928 became a permanent office in New
York. In the latter year, John Johnson, the
pioneer Russian pastor of the Disciples in
New York, became the Russian secretary
of this organization. After another trip
abroad in 1928, Prokhanov never again
returned to his homeland because of the
worsening religious situation. He settled
in Berlin and traveled extensively in Eu-
rope and the New World. In Berlin in 1931,
he established a foreign division of the
Evangelical Christian Union and died in
the city four years later.

As a representative of the Standard
Publishing Company and other publishing
houses, John Johnson traveled to Russia in
1930 to visit Evangelical Christians and
request their participation in a world-wide
celebration of Pentecost on June 8th. Al-
though persecution had begun, it had not
as yet reached full force. Johnson was able
to visit the Council of the Evangelical Chris-
tian Union as well as Evangelical Chris-
tians congregations in Leningrad and Mos-
cow where he preached on eight different
occasions.21

When the Second World War was
nearing its end with the prospect of re-
newed communication, Frederick D.
Kershner, a leading educator and writer of
the Disciples, raised the possibility in 1944
of a renewal of ties with the Russian Evan-
gelical Christians. Soon afterwards, how-
ever, Kershner received a letterfromJ ames
DeForest Murch which told of the estab-
lishment of a Union of Evangelical Chris-
tians and Baptists and included the words,

''This would seem to indicate that our hopes
of establishing contacts with the old
Prokhanov movement after the war are
lost." The door had shut again.22

In America, the Russian Christian
(or Evangelical Christian) churches also
went their own way. In 1925 the United
Christian Missionary Society stopped mis-
sion aid to them. In the latter half of the
1920s, these churches formed a Russo-
Slavonic Union of Evangelical Christians.
John Johnson himself became president of
an independent Russian Christian Mission
which not only provided mission assistance
to Russian work in Canada and Latin
America but also during the Second World
War sent food and clothing to fellow believ-
ers in Soviet Russia.23

In spite of the enthusiasm of various
leaders, the efforts of the Disciples in sup-
port of a Russian mission proved to be
modest in investment and limited in dura-
tion. Some of the endeavor was practically
ad hoc, such as the initial campaign for the
school and the drive for relief funds, with
limited financial results. Except for one or
two keen observers, the leaders in this
endeavor also convinced themselves that
they were dealing with a movement which
was restorationist, but from evidence at
the time and from later events this as-
sumption proved to be false. Prokhanov
was his own man, unwilling to identify
completely either with Baptists or Dis-
ciples but prepared to play up to either of
them for support. But Disciples cannot be
entirely blamed for the negative results--
timing proved to be unfortunately against
them with outside events often overtaking
their best intentions. In spite of the final
outcome, Disciples can still take pride in
the fact that they made a contribution to
evangelicals in Soviet Russia, who today
face the future with renewed hope and
opportuni ty.
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